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Reasons for Judgment Reserved

I. Introduction

[1] The jury system is probably the most familiar symbol and manifestation of the Rule of Law
in this country. It is enshrined in our traditions, values and the words of our foundational law, the
Constitution of Canada. The verdict of a jury is the product of the reason and collective human
experience of people taken from their busy lives to work together in an unfamiliar, yet vital,
enterprise. But juries, consisting of 12 lay persons, cannot properly discharge their duties if the
instructions they receive on the law are incorrect, inconsistent or non-existent on key legal issues
of decisive significance. Nor is there any reasonable chance for jurors to discharge their duties
impartially if trial judges fail to warn them about relying on improper myths and stereotypes when
jurors have been implicitly or explicitly invited to do just that. This is especially so in trials
involving sexual offences. Despite our society’s recognition of individual autonomy and equality,
there still remains an undeniable need for judges to ensure that the criminal law is not tainted by
pernicious and unfair assumptions, whether about women, Aboriginal people, or sex trade
workers. Failing to meet that need can undermine the jurors’ ability to apply the law objectively
and correctly. Regrettably, in this case, the jury charge was deficient in all these respects.

[2] Bradley Barton (Barton) was charged with first degree murder in the death of Cindy
Gladue (Gladue). Gladue was found dead in the bathtub in a hotel room occupied by Barton. She
died from blood loss from a perforation more than 11 centimeters long that went completely
through, and ran almost the full length of, her vaginal wall.

[3] The Crown’s theory was that, on the evening of June 21, 2011, Gladue was incapacitated
because of a blood alcohol level of 340 milligrams percent. Barton used a sharp object to cut
Gladue’s vaginal wall in the early moming hours of June 22.! When Gladue began to bleed
heavily, Barton carried her to the bathroom and put her into the bathtub. Altematively, the Crown
argued that even if the jury had a reasonable doubt whether Barton cut Gladue’s vaginal wall with
a sharp object, Barton would nevertheless still be guilty of unlawful act manslaughter on the basis
that Barton caused Gladue’s death in the course of a sexual assault.

[4]  The defence contended that while Barton tore Gladue’s vaginal wall and caused her death,
this was a non-culpable act of homicide. Barton testified that he and Gladue had engaged in sexual
relations on June 20, 2011 and again the night of June 21 before she died in the early hours of June
22. He admitted that he caused Gladue’s death. But he claimed this was an “accident” from
consensual sexual activity and should not result in criminal liability.

! We refer to June 21 as the night Gladue died since that is when the interactions with Barton began that led to her
death on June 22,
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[5] A jury found Barton not guilty of first degree murder and not guilty of the lesser included
offence of manslaughter. The Crown has appealed the acquittals on several grounds, seeking a new
trial on first degree murder. The defence contends there were no reviewable errors and the jury
verdict should not be lightly disturbed.

[6] We have determined that the errors of law in the trial and in the jury charge were several in
number, serious in scope, and significant in impact. They include erroneous instructions on what
use the jury could make of Barton’s after the fact conduct; misleading instructions on motive;
non-compliance with s 276 of the Criminal Code limiting the admissibility of prior sexual conduct
evidence; failing to adequately warn the jury about improper reliance on sexual conduct evidence;
and providing deficient and internally inconsistent instructions on unlawful act manslaughter,
including failing to instruct the jury properly on the law of sexual assault relating to “consent”, the
“sexual activity in question” and mistaken belief in consent; and failing to instruct the jury
propetly on dangerousness and manslaughter. These errors of law negatively compromised the
jury’s ability to properly assess the evidence and apply the law correctly. We are satisfied the
errors might reasonably have had a material bearing on the acquittals: R v Graveline, 2006 SCC
16, [2006] 1 SCR 609 [Graveline]. Therefore, we allow the appeal, set aside the acquittals and
order a new trial on the charge of first degree murder. :

[7]  This case has exposed the flaws in the legal infrastructure used for instructing juries on
sexual offences in Canada. As part of our analysis, we explain why the present content of accepted
jury charges contributes to persistent analytical problems in applying the law on sexual offences.

[8] Wehave also concluded the time has come to push the reset button for jury charges in this
country for cases involving an alleged sexual assault. First, there exists an imperative need to align
jury charges in use nationally with changes to the law on sexual assault adopted years ago. Key
provisions in some jury charges have fossilized concepts Parliament sought to remove a quarter
century ago. Second, there is a requirement to ensure that jury charges communicate the present
law correctly and effectively to jurors — and to judges who often use jury charges for
self-instruction on judge-alone trials. Third, despite efforts to thwart them, myths and stereotypes
continue to stalk the halls of justice in cases involving sexual offences, enabled sometimes by
inadequate jury charges. Fourth, these persistent presumptions and problematic jury charges
reduce the entitlement of individuals to the equal recognition and protection of the law. This
inequality falls most heavily on women since sexual assault has been, and continues to be, largely
a gender-based crime.? The vast majority of victims are female, and the vast majority of
perpetrators male.’

% R v Osolin, [1993] 4 SCR 595 at 669 [Osolin), Cory J (“Sexual assault is in the vast majority of cases gender based.
It is an assault upon human dignity and constitutes a denial of any concept of equality for women”); R v Ewanchuk,
[1999] 1 SCR 330 at para 68 [Ewanchuk], L'Heureux-Dubé J (“Violence against women takes many forms: sexual
assault is one of them”). That said, there is no doubt that men too can be, and are, victims of sexual assault and women
can be, and are, perpetrators of this crime. The comments made in these Reasons apply with equal force to
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[9] The continuation of these problems is an affront to the will of Parliament and to the
standards of our mature society committed to equality under the law. Were there no concerns about
jurors and others in the justice system continuing to make unfair assumptions based on a
complainant’s prior sexual history, a rape shield law would not be needed in Canada. But it is. And
were there no legitimate public concerns about the handling of sexual assault cases generally, there
would be no calls for better education on this topic for all involved in the justice system. But there
are. And if jury charges in use nationally warned jurors adequately about improper reliance on
myths and stereotypes, there would be no requirement to tackle this issue. But there is. As
guardians of all constitutionally protected rights, courts must do what is necessary to rein in what
remain clear and present dangers to a fair trial for sexual offences.

[10] We now turn to the reasons for our conclusions. We begin with the factual background
relating to the first degree murder charge (Part II). We then outline the grounds of appeal advanced
by the Crown (Part III). Next, we set out the standard of review as it relates to jury charges (Part
IV). We then deal with the errors in the jury charge on Barton’s after the fact conduct and what
ought to have been included in the jury instructions on this issue (Part V). That takes us to the
problematic jury instructions on motive (Part VI). We then explore the errors in failing to comply
with the requirements of s 276 of the Code regarding prior sexual conduct evidence and the
consequences of that failure (Part VII). In the next part, we explore in further detail the reasons for
reforming jury instructions and include draft jury instructions about invalid myths and stereotypes
and prior sexual conduct for consideration (Part VIII).

[11] We next review errors in the charge on unlawful act manslaughter beginning with the
errors in the instructions on “consent”, “sexual activity in question”, and mistaken belief in
consent. That then takes us to other concerns with the jury instructions including the manner in
which both the mens rea for sexual assault and “reasonable steps” were dealt with. As part of this
analysis, we also explore certain problems with pattern jury instructions on some of these issues
and set out draft instructions for consideration. In this part, we also identify errors in the jury
instructions on dangerousness and manslaughter (Part IX). Finally, we note the unresolved issue of
whether apparent consent — where the complainant consented or her conduct raised a reasonable

complainants who are male and accuseds who are female.

3 As stated by Janine Benedet in “Marital Rape, Polygamy, and Prostitution: Trading Sex Equality for Agency and
Choice?” (2013) 18:2 Rev Const Stud 161 at 165 [Benedet, “Marital Rape™]: “There can be no doubt that crimes of
sexual violence are gendered. In Canada in 2011, women were eleven times more likely than men to be sexually
victimized, and § in 10 victims of police-reported intimate partner violence were women. In 2009, 92% of victims
aged 15 years and older of sexual offences (including sexual assault, sexual exploitation, and incest) were women. In
99% of incidents of sexual violence against women, the accused perpetrator was male”. Sexual assault is a prevalent,
often under-reported crime: R v Seaboyer, R v Gayme, [1991] 2 SCR 577 at 648-649 [Seaboyer], per
L’Heureux-Dubé J.
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doubt about the lack of consent — should be vitiated as a matter of public policy where death is
caused by sexual activity involving a dangerous act (Part X).* The conclusion follows (Part XI).

I1. Trial Evidence
A. Barton’s Testimony About How Gladue Was Injured
[12] Barton was the sole witness to the circumstances of Gladue’s death.

[13] He testified that on June 21, 2011, the night Gladue died, they agreed to meet at a hotel bar
in Edmonton. Barton and work colleagues Kevin Atkins and Rick Wessles were staying at the
hotel as part of a moving job. Barton and Atkins were drinking in the bar when Gladue arrived. All
stayed until closing time. Barton said that on the prior night, June 20, 2011, he had agreed to pay
Gladue $60.00 for “Everything” which he defined as “Intercourse, sex”.’ He did not testify to any
such conversation on June 21, 2011. He said only that he and Gladue agreed to the same price and
he believed she knew what she was coming for. The hotel video shows all three walking down the
hall at 12:42 a.m. on the early morning of June 22. Gladue’s gait is uneven; she appears to grab
towards a wall and lean on Barton at various times. At some point, referring to Gladue, Barton
asked Atkins “do you want a piece?”” Atkins declined. Gladue and Barton went into Barton’s
hotel room alone.

[14] According to Barton, they each had a beer, Gladue then took her clothes off in the
bathroom, and he hid his wallet under the mattress. Gladue came out of the bathroom and sat naked
on the edge of the bed. Barton described how he placed fingers from his left hand into Gladue’s
vagina. He said his left hand, formed into a conical shape, penetrated her about a centimeter or two
past his knuckles and he “thrust” for about ten minutes. He said he was standing and she was
seated on the corner of the bed, and she never laid on the bed. As he was thrusting his hand into her
vagina, she was performing oral sex on him.

[15] Barton said that when he withdrew his hand from her vagina, he noticed blood. He asked
her whether she was having her period and he claimed she replied “Maybe I am™.” Barton then

* In determining the circumstances that may vitiate “apparent consent”, the Supreme Court used that phrase to cover
cases where the complainant consented or her conduct raised a reasonable doubt about the lack of consent: R ¥
Hutchinson, 2014 SCC 19 at para 4, [2014] 1 SCR 346 [Hritchinson). We use “apparent consent” in these Reasons in
the same context as did the Supreme Court, namely to cover both categories of cases.

3 Appeal Record (AR) 1103/26-30.

5 AR 1120/22.

7 AR 1128/30-35.
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decided that he did not want to have intercourse with her, refused to pay her, and told her to wash
up and leave. He testified he went into the washroom first to clean his hands. When he returned to
the room, he said Gladue was sitting on the bed. He claimed she then went into the bathroom, at
which point he said he got into bed and promptly fell asleep with Gladue still in the bathroom. He
denied carrying her into the bathtub. He said that when he woke up in the morning, he found
Gladue in his bathroom tub. She did not appear to be moving,.

B. Physical Evidence Relating to Barton

[16] Bartonis 6’1", weighed 220 pounds at the time of these events, was employed as a mover
and admitted his work was very physical and required strength. Exhibits at trial capture both the
size and shape of the hand he claims he inserted into Gladue’s vagina. The Exhibits demonstrate
that Barton has a large left hand. Measured from the Exhibits, from the tip of his middle finger to
the one centimeter beyond his knuckle that he claims to have inserted into Gladue appears to be
approximately 14 centimeters (about 54 inches) in length. Even in the conical shape he alleges he
used, the widest part, at his knuckles, measured approximately 11 centimeters (about 4% inches)
across. In these Reasons, the reference to Barton’s “hand” means 5% inches of his hand in length °
including his 44 inch wide knuckles and all five of his fingers formed into a conical shape. These
measurements do not include the circumference of Barton’s hand.

C. Barton’s After the Fact Conduct

[17] The evidence of Barton’s conduct after he claimed to have found Gladue on the morning of
June 22 comes from various sources: Barton himself; available video camera footage; Barton’s
cell phone records; physical evidence found by the police; and the testimony of numerous
individuals. They included friends and co-workers, Atkins and John Sullivan; the desk clerk and
maintenance worker; two police officers who were among the first officers on the scene; and an
undercover police officer who rode in a van with Barton and had a recorded conversation with him.

[18] According to Barton, he woke up between 7:20 and 7:25 a.m., got out of bed, and went into
the bathroom. He saw a great deal of blood and noticed Gladue immobile in the bathtub. He
stepped in the blood, panicked, grabbed a towel, wet the towel, and wiped up blood from his feet
and part of the floor. He denied using the toilet at any time.

[19] Barton testified that he then got dressed quickly in his work clothing, grabbed his wallet
from under the mattress, packed his bag and “just got right out of the hotel room™.® He said he left
the hotel through the northeast door, which led directly to a parking lot where his moving van was
parked. Barton admitted that he took the towel that he used to wipe up the blood and threw it into
an outside garbage can in the far corner of the parking lot. The police found this towel and
confirmed it contained blood and DNA from Gladue.

$ AR 1131/13.
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[20] Barton went to his moving van, threw his duffle bag inside the van, and went back to the
hotel. The videos show, and the hotel clerk confirmed, that at 7:43 a.m., Barton checked out and
handed in his room key card. Barton left the hotel, got into his van, and started the engine. He
spoke with Atkins and Wessles, arranging for them to go to the job site.

[21] Barton then called and waited for Sullivan. Sullivan found Barton in the driver’s seat of the
van with the motor running. When Sullivan asked if they were going to have a good day, Barton
replied something like “not until the police come”.” Barton told Sullivan there was a woman in his
room bleeding. He claimed he did not know her, she had showed up at his hotel door the night
before and asked to take a shower, and he let her in. Sullivan testified he told Barton to call 911 and
he would take care of the moving job. Barton and Sullivan talked for four or five minutes before
Barton went back to the hotel. Sullivan drove the van to the worksite with Barton’s duffle bag in it.

[22] The video shows that at 7:51 a.m., Barton was at the lobby doors of the front entrance. At
7:56 a.m., he appeared in the hallway with a coffee cup in his hand. The hotel clerk testified that
Barton asked for a new key card to his room because he claimed he had forgotten some papers in it.
At 7:58 a.m., Barton is seen with a key card in his hand walking back towards his room. Barton
entered and dialed 911 using the hotel phone at 8:03 a.m. An emergency alarm went off at the front
desk indicating a 911 call was being made from one of the hotel rooms. The hotel clerk sent the
maintenance worker to check on Barton’s room.

[23] When Barton called 911, he asked for the police. The audio recording and transcript of that
call was played and entered as an exhibit at trial. Barton told the 911 operator that a woman he did
not know came to his room, knocked on his door at about 10:30 p.m. the night before and wanted
to use his shower. He went to bed and woke up the next day to find her dead in his bathtub. Among
other statements, Barton told the 911 operator that he was physically shaking,

[24] The first two police officers arrived at the hotel at 8:08 a.m. They were followed shortly by
two more police officers, Constables Jeff Sliwa and Cameron Jones, who eventually brought
Barton to Edmonton Police Services headquarters. The police saw Barton sitting on the bed and
talking on the phone to the 911 operator. Barton told Constable Jones that he first saw Gladue
having a smoke outside the hotel and added “I didn’t do anything. I’m married, and I don’t do this
Sthf.”w

[25] The police took photographs and swabs from various surfaces and articles. At that time, the
police believed they were investigating a fatality, not a homicide. It was not until June 23, 2011,

> AR 25/17-18.

10 AR 342/13-14.
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when the autopsy was performed and it was discovered that Gladue’s vaginal wall had been
perforated, that the nature of the investigation changed.

[26] An undercover detective rode in a prisoner security van with Barton. The detective’s
conversation with Barton was recorded and played in full at trial. During that ride, Barton initiated
the conversation and denied any involvement with Gladue’s death. His account of what happened
differed completely from his evidence at trial.

D. The Forensic Evidence

[27] The forensic evidence included an autopsy conducted by Dr. Graeme Dowling and his
opinion, the opinions of Dr. Catherine Carter-Snell, Constable Nancy Allen on blood splatter
evidence, Dr. Graham Jones on toxicology evidence, a DNA analysis, police photographs, the
testimony of police officers and other evidence admitted by consent. The defence presented the
expert evidence of Dr. Janice Ophoven.

[28] Gladue was 36 years old, 5°5” and weighed 110 pounds. There was no dispute that Gladue
suffered a catastrophic injury, involving the total perforation of her vaginal wall, and that she died
as a result of blood loss. There was a large gaping hole over 11 centimeters (4 inches) long, which
passed completely through her vaginal wall and ran almost the full length of her vagina. There was
also agreement that Gladue suffered other less serious injuries too, including on her labia and
bruising between her anus and vagina.

[29] Expert evidence was divided about the nature and cause of the fatal wound Barton
inflicted. The Crown’s two experts said the perforation was a cut caused by a sharp instrument.
The defence expert said the perforation was a laceration, not a cut, and it was the result of blunt
force frauma.

[30] Dr. Dowling, a Crown expert in forensic pathology, conducted the autopsy on Gladue on
June 23, 2011. Dr. Dowling noticed bleeding on the right side of the pelvis. He testified that, as he
was trying to find out where the blood was coming from, “I suddenly saw something which you

shouldn’t see when you’re looking from above and down into the pelvis. I saw the wall of the
7 11

vagina”.

[31] Dr. Dowling explained the difference between blunt injuries/lacerations and sharp
injuries/cuts.” Dr. Dowling concluded Gladue died of a perforating sharp injury of the vagina."

1" AR 769/13-15.

12 A laceration generally results from crushing force that crushes tissues causing the skin to split. The edges of
lacerations are generally scraped because of the crushing force. When looking into the depths of a laceration, bridging
can be seen. Bridges are little tiny blood vessels, bits of fat and strings of tissue not broken by the force of impact, But
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He confirmed that if it was a sharp injury, as in a cut, not a great deal of force would have been
required to inflict the damage done. But if it was a blunt trauma, then “considerable” or “excessive
force” would have been required.”* Dr. Dowling described “considerable force” as being enough
force that an “independent person would say, you know, you are going to hurt that person™."

[32] Perforation from blunt trauma would be painful and result in bleeding relatively quickly.
He testified that if it was a fast bleed, death due to blood loss would take at least several minutes
during which there would have been different stages. First, the victim would have moved from
being conscious to being unable to move and speak or cry out. Next, she would have fallen into
unconsciousness, and last, she would have been in irreversible shock." If a slow bleed, then it
might take hours for the victim to die.”

[33] Dr. Dowling found no evidence of menstruation.

[34] Given the results of Dr. Dowling’s autopsy, Gladue’s death became a homicide
investigation. Because it was such a highly unusual injury, Dr. Dowling preserved Gladue’s
vagina.

[35] The second Crown expert, Dr. Carter-Snell, was qualified as an expert in forensic
assessment of patients who were sexually assaulted. Her opinion, based on photographs, was that
the injury to Gladue was a cut caused by a sharp instrument.

[36] Dr. Ophoven testified as a defence expert in forensic pathology. Her opinion was based on
her review of the autopsy report, photos, police reports, witness statements; investigative materials
and additional materials pertaining to opinions. Dr. Ophoven inspected Gladue’s preserved
genitalia. She testified that she thought the superficial wound on the labia was a laceration, a
“[p]retty classic tear”. ® Dr. Ophoven admitted that she was aware of Barton’s version of events

with a sharp injury/cut, scraping at the edges of the wound tends not to be seen and, generally, bridges are not seen.

13 Dr. Dowling noted the edges of the wound had no bruising, no scraping and only at the lower end of the wound
could he find bridges. The rest had a clean appearance that to him suggested a sharp, rather than blunt, injury.

1 AR 788/2, 8; 789/23-24.

> AR 788/16-17.

16 AR 832/15-38; 833/10-21.

17 AR 786/34-787/5.

- 18 AR 1367/38-39. Of the major wound, she thought the tears occurred irregularly through the vaginal wall, She was

of the view the tissue bridges indicated a laceration because some tissue had not come apart and some had. As well,
she noted hemorrhaging into the tissue and hematoma or bruising all around the laceration. She did not think the
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prior to forming her opinion. She stated Gladue’s injury could have been caused by Barton placing
his hand in a conical shape a centimeter or two past his knuckles into Gladue’s vagina.” She also
thought placing his hand into Gladue’s vagina the day before could have impacted her vaginal wall
strength on the following day.

[37] Neither forensic pathologist claimed extensive direct experience with injuries or deaths
caused by manual perforation of a vagina, but both were familiar with the literature.

E. The Blood Evidence

[38] Constable Nancy Allen was qualified by consent to give opinion evidence on bloodstain
pattern analysis. Gladue was found lying on her back in the bathtub of Barton’s hotel bathroom.
Constable Allen examined the blood patterns within the bathtub, on its edges, and on the water taps
and concluded they were consistent with Gladue repeatedly moving within the bathtub while
actively bleeding. Constable Allen also found evidence that the bedding had been re-arranged and
there were cleanup activities in respect of both the bedding and the bathroom.

[39] When the police entered the hotel room, the bedspread was crumpled on the floor beside
the bed. Dr. Dowling testified that the perforation of Gladue’s vagina would have resulted in heavy
bleeding, and there was heavy bleeding on the bedspread. Constable Allen concluded the
bedspread had been in another position when the accumulation of blood made contact with the
surface of the bedspread. A beige coloured blanket was also found on top of the bed, and there
were transfer and saturation stains near the center of the bed. Constable Allen concluded those
stains were consistent with liquid blood coming into contact with those surfaces, and that such
blood could have soaked through from the bedspread.”® Diluted bloodstains were observed on the
lower half of the bed sheet, which remained on the bed below the beige blanket.® She also
observed altered stains by dilution on the west pillowcase. The east pillowcase had a transfer stain,
with liquid blood making contact with the pillowcase. Barton denied that Gladue ever laid on the
bed and said she only sat on its northeast corner.

[40] In addition to dilution stains on the bedding, Constable Allen pointed to three areas in the
bathroom that were “consistent with clean-up activity”: the flooring near the bathtub; the front
vertical surface of the bathtub; and the front vertical surface of the toilet bowl below the toilet

absence of abrasions was decisive. The wound was irregular with microtears along the surface edges, bridging and
bruising.

19 AR 1390/36-1391/7.
0 AR 463/38 - 464/7.

2! Diluted bloodstains means there has been alteration and dilution with another liquid.
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seat.”” Barton stated he only wiped the floor where he stepped and specifically denied wiping the
side of the bathtub or the toilet.

[41] Constable Allen found that while the carpet was a dark colour, there did not appear to be
blood spatter evidence on the carpet between where Barton said Gladue was sitting on the corner
of the bed and the bathroom. The Crown theory was that because of the absence of blood in the
area where Gladue would have been required to walk to enter the bathroom, Barton carried Gladue
into the bathtub. As well, a woman in the adjacent room said that at about 2:00 a.m., she heard
what she thought was a loud thud from the room next door.

F. The Toxicology Evidence .

[42] Dr. Jones testified that at the time of her death, Gladue’s blood alcohol level was 340
milligrams per hundred millilitres of blood, more than four times the legal limit. He indicated that
even a person tolerant of alcohol would be impaired and would show some signs of impairment.

G. Further Physical Evidence

[43] Officers who investigated the scene examined the garbage in the room and looked in some
garbage containers outside the hotel. They collected the bedding, clothing and personal
belongings. In one of the exterior bins, they found a hand towel with small red stains. The hand
towel appeared to have been wet and then air dried. They did not find a knife or sharp instrument.

[44] Only after the autopsy on June 23, 2011, when Dr. Dowling concluded that Gladue had
been fatally injured with a sharp object, did police return to the hotel to search for a weapon. Police
searched the hotel garbage containers and the area behind the hotel (in the parking lot and in a
grassy area near the train tracks). The search was not very thorough. Because the grass went up to
one’s knees, according to one of the police officers, it was like looking for a needle in a haystack.”

I11. Grounds of Appeal
[45] The Crown submitted the trial judge erred in law in:
1. the instructions to the jury with respect to motive;

2. making a ruling under s 276 of the Code without any application and without
a hearing on the issue;

2 AR 471/38-39.

B AR 421/6-11.
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3. the instructions to the jury with respect to manslaﬁghter; and

4. instructing the jury that Gladue’s consent on a previous occasion could be
used to support a finding of honest but mistaken belief in consent by Barton on
the night Gladue died.

[46] During the oral hearing, the Court also raised the question of potential error in the
instructions to the jury on after the fact conduct. Counsel properly and ably addressed that topic.”

[47] Inthe course of this appeal, other concerns arose about the jury instructions on “accident”,
reasonable steps and vitiation of consent. None were advanced as free-standing grounds of appeal.
In light of R v Mian,2014 SCC 54,[2014] 2 SCR 689 [Mian], and since this is a Crown appeal, we
are not entitled to treat these as independent grounds of appeal or decide this appeal to Barton’s
disadvantage on these issues. We have not done so. Nonetheless, since we are ordering a new trial
on other grounds, we make some observations on identified errors to ensure they will not be
repeated. Where issues remain open for determination, they will be determined as considered
appropriate by the new trial judge. Our comments on issues in this latter category are obiter only.

1V. Standard of Review

[48] Thelaw in Canada has moved away from a patronizing view that jurors will not understand
or apply the law correctly unless it is given to them in rigid formulae. The substance of the charge
is more important than its adherence to or departure from prescriptive formulas: R v Daley, 2007
SCC 53 at para 30, [2007]) 3 SCR 523 [Daley].” The law demands properly, not perfectly,
instructed juries: R v Jacquard, [1997] 1 SCR 314 at para 62 [Jacquard]; R v Araya, 2015 SCC 11
at para 39, [2015] 1 SCR 581.Thus, the Supreme Court of Canada has repeatedly endorsed a
functional approach to appellate review of a trial judge’s jury charge: R v Mack, 2014 SCC 58 at
para 49, [2014] 3 SCR 3. Errors must be examined “in the context of the entire charge and of the
trial as a whole”: R v Jaw, 2009 SCC 42 at para 32, [2009] 3 SCR 26 [Jaw].

[49] Moreover, over the past 30 years, the law has also moved to a more inclusionary policy on
the law of criminal evidence and procedure: R v Corbett, [1988] 1 SCR 670 [Corbett]. In the
interest of adjudicative fairness and the search for the truth, the courts have opted for more flexible

* The Court gave both Crown and defence an opportunity to submit further materials in writing on after the fact
conduct. None were submitted.

% As stated by the Supreme Court at para 30: “The cardinal rule is that it is the general sense which the words used
must have conveyed, in all probability, to the mind of the jury that matters, and not whether a particular formula was
recited by the judge.”
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and justice-focused discretion for trial judges. This evolution has imposed a commensurate duty
on trial judges to take proactive steps to avoid misuses and abuses of evidence and procedure. It is
called gatekeeping for a reason. Our centuries old confidence in the jury system rests on juries
understanding and applying the principles of law faithfully. They will do so provided they are
properly instructed. But since they lack the “lens of judicial experience”, jurors need to be helped
to think like the judges they are, and avoid forbidden reasoning and distractions.

[50] A jury acquittal will not be overturned lightly: R v Sutfon, 2000 SCC 50 at para 2, [2000]
2 SCR 595. However, under s 676(1)(a) of the Code, the Crown may appeal an acquittal on a
question of law. Misdirection or non-direction in a jury charge is a question of law, subject to a
standard of correctness: R v Elder, 2015 ABCA 126 at para 12, 599 AR 385. A trial judge is
required to “‘set out in plain and understandable terms the law the jury must apply when assessing
the facts”: Daley, supra at para 32. That includes instructing the jury on all avenues to conviction
which arise from the evidence irrespective of both the Crown and defence positions: R v Pickton,
2010 SCC 32 at para 19, [2010] 2 SCR 198 [Pickton].

[51] A trial judge also has a general duty to explain the critical evidence and assist the jury in
linking that evidence to the issues it must consider in reaching a verdict: R v Rodgerson, 2015 SCC
38 at para 30, [2015] 2 SCR 760 [Rodgerson]. The main objectives are to decant and simplify the
instructions and make the charge case-specific, permitting the jurors to focus on the triable issues:
Jacquard, supra at para 13. A jury charge may be so unnecessarily confusing that it constitutes an
error of law: R v Hebert, [1996] 2 SCR 272 at para 8.

[52] To obtain a new trial, the Crown must satisfy the appellate court that the errors might
reasonably be thought to have had a material bearing on the acquittal: Graveline, supra at paras 14,
16.

[53] In this case, the trial judge consulted counsel about the instructions to the jury, and all
versions of the charge were submitted as part of the record. Counsel have an obligation to assist the
trial judge in composing the charge: R v Karaibrahimovic, 2002 ABCA 102 at paras 48-49, 164
CCC (3d) 431; R v Cudjoe, 2009 ONCA 543 at para 155, 68 CR (6th) 86; R v Allen, 2009 ABCA
341 at paras 62-64, 249 CCC (3d) 296 [Allen], aff’d 2010 SCC 42, [2010] 2 SCR 648; R v Lilgert,
2014 BCCA 493 at para 37, 318 CCC (3d) 30. But the ultimate responsibility for the content of the
jury charge rests with the trial judge: Pickton, supra at para 27. Thus, it is the final instructions that
the trial judge provided to the jury that are the focus of this Court’s inquiry.
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V. Errors in Jury Charge on Barton’s After the Fact Conduct
A. Introduction

[54] “After the fact conduct” or, as it is sometimes called “post offence conduct”, refers to
anything said or done by an accused after the commission of the offence alleged. It includes a vast
array of words and conduct. In his charge to the jury, the trial judge defined this category of
evidence as “things that Mr, Barton is alleged to have said or done after the incident charged in the
indictment™.*

[55] Both Crown and defence acknowledged at the hearing of this appeal that the trial judge
erred in law in his treatment of this nuanced subject. But counsel disagreed about the significance
of that error.

[56] We have concluded that the admitted error had a material bearing on the acquittals. To
explain our conclusions, we first provide an overview of certain aspects of the law on after the fact
conduct and then explain the errors in the charge and their significance.

B. Overview of the Law on After the Fact Conduct

[57] “After the fact conduct” or “post offence conduct” — which includes actions and words — is
a form of circumstantial evidence. The trier of fact is attempting to draw inferences about what
occurred at the time of the alleged crime by reference to what happened afterward.”” Since after
the fact conduct is once removed from the events, drawing inferences based on that conduct may
be more difficult than doing so from an accused’s words and actions at the time of the offence.

[58] Nevertheless, while special limiting instructions may sometimes be necessary, this
evidence is presumptively admissible: R v White, 2011 SCC 13, [2011] 1 SCR 433 at para 18
[White (2011)]. Hence, the trial judge, as the evidentiary gatekeeper, must determine the relevance
and purpose for which the proposed evidence is tendered: White (2011), supra at para 22. It is an
error of law for the trial judge to fail to assist the jury in understanding the relevance of specific
after the fact conduct to live issues in a trial. Most important, the trial judge should outline to the
jury the reasonable inferences they may draw from after the fact conduct and ensure that
unreasonable inferences are not put to the jury: White (2011), supra at para 167.

% AR 1742/9-10.

27 As stated in R v Peavoy (1997), 34 OR (3d) 620 (CA) at 629: “Evidence of after-the-fact conduct is commonly
admitted to show that an accused person has acted in a manner which, based on human experience and logic, is
consistent with the conduct of a guilty person and inconsistent with the conduct of an innocent person.”
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[59] After the fact conduct may support certain inferences, including that (1) the defendant did
not act lawfully (unlawful conduct or culpable act — consciousness of guilt); and (2) the defendant
should or should not be believed (credibility): Faisal Mirza, Criminal Jury Charge Practice
(Markham: LexisNexis, 2015) at 111-112.

[60] It is up to the jury as the trier of fact, not the judge, to decide whether to draw an inference
or which one: White (2011), supra at para 137; R v Campbell, 2015 ABCA 70, 599 AR 142. The
jurors are to be told that they are entitled to consider after the fact conduct in the context of all the
evidence, including the evidence related to the lethal harm inflicted on the victim and what
happened to the victim following that assault: Redgerson, supra at paras 22-23. After the fact
conduct is to be assessed in context with common sense as to its implications. Accordingly, jurors
should also understand that it is open to them to infer that where the after the fact conduct “is out of
all proportion to the level of culpability admitted, it might be found to be more consistent with the
offence charged”: R v White, [1998] 2 SCR 72 at para 32 [White (1995)].

[61] Finally, the jury is entitled to find that the after the fact conduct touches on the credibility
and reliability of the defence version of the narrative, particularly whether that narrative makes any
sense. In assessing the accused’s after the fact conduct, the jury determines whether that conduct is
related to the commission of the offence as opposed to being explicable by reference to something
else, and the weight to ascribe to it in reaching a verdict. The trial judge must leave reasonable
inferences to the jury. Unfortunately, that did not happen in this case.

C. Analysis of the Jury Charge on After the Fact Conduct
[62] The key issues arising from Barton’s after the fact conduct are whether he was aware he
had committed an unlawful act (consciousness of guilt) and his credibility. The trial judge erred in
the jury instructions on both issues.
1. Misdirection on Consciousness of Guilt
[63] The Crown and defence agreed that the trial judge erred in telling the jury first:
You cannot infer that Barton is guilty of any offence as a result of his
after-the-fact conduct, but it may be used to assess his claim that Cindy

Gladue’s injury was an accident.®

and then in restating the proposition in similar language at the end of the charge on this topic:

B AR 1742/29-31.
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This evidence might only be used to draw an inference relating to Gladue’s
injuries being accidental [Emphasis added].”

[64] Four interrelated errors arose from these misstatements of law.

[65] First, this wording led the jury to believe that this evidence was not logically and legally
capable of supporting an inference that Barton was demonstrating consciousness of guilt. But after
the fact conduct can constitute evidence of guilt: White (2011), supra at paras 17-22. This
one-sided instruction improperly restricted the jurors’ fact-finding role. It left them with the
mistaken impression they could only use this evidence in relation to Barton’s claim that Gladue’s
injuries were accidental and even then, it was not clear how this evidence related to any claim of
“accident”.” Indeed, the trial judge told the jurors — twice — that they could »nof use Barton’s after
the fact conduct to infer guilt.

[66] However, the other inference was that Barton’s after the fact acts and statements, or any
combination thereof, demonstrated consciousness of guilt. Conduct is not assessed in a freeze
frame manner. That conduct included Barton’s cleaning up the scene, disposing of the bloody
towel that would have contained his DNA and Gladue’s blood in the garbage bin outside the hotel,
leaving the hotel, getting into a running van and only returning later to the hotel room, and lying to
six different people about key facts. These actions fall into several recognized types of relevant
after the fact conduct: destruction of evidence; concealing of evidence; erasing a link to the scene;
and concoction and fabrication of lies. Consequently, Barton’s after the fact actions, including his
admitted lies, were capable of supporting the inference that he knew that he had at least committed
a culpable act: Rodgerson, supra at para 20; R v Figueroa, 2008 ONCA 106 at para 34, 233 OAC
176; R v Jones (2006), 214 OAC 225 at paras 5-8, 211 CCC (3d) 4 (CA). And yet, this reasonable
inference was effectively removed from the jury.

[67] Second, by taking this inference away from the jury, the trial judge usurped the jury’s role.
The defence argued that Barton’s conduct — concealment, flight, and lies — could support the
inference that Barton was scared, not because he killed anyone or committed a crime, but because
he was found with a dead woman in his bathtub and wanted to hide from his wife and employer
that he had sex with another woman. However, the Crown argued that this evidence could also
support the inference that Barton was aware he had committed a culpable act, particularly given
the nature and extent of his after the fact conduct. In this regard, it was open to the trial judge to
instruct the jury that they could consider whether Barton’s after the fact conduct was out of all
proportion to his stated rationale for a cover up. It was for the jury to weigh the evidence and
determine which, if either, inference to accept.

2 AR 1743/18-19.

30 We address the “defence” of “accident” later in these Reasons.
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[68] Third, by instructing the jury that théy could not infer guilt from Barton’s after the fact
conduct, the trial judge contradicted other accurate portions of thie charge that the jury may infer
guilt in certain circumstances. This undoubtedly further confused the jury.

[69] Fourth, by restricting the relevance of Barton’s after the fact conduct to whether or not
Gladue’s death was an “accident”, the trial judge failed to point out that such conduct could go to
the overall credibility of Barton’s testimony as to what happened. It is to that topic we now turn.

2. Non-Direction on Barton’s After the Fact Conduct and Credibility

[70] The Supreme Court has repeatedly confirmed that an accused’s after the fact conduct may
be used to undermine or impugn the accused’s credibility: White (1998), supra at para 26; Jaw,
supra at para 39. Appellate courts too have consistently recognized that this is a permissible use of
after the fact conduct: Allen at para 97; R v Head, 2014 MBCA 59 at para 49, 306 Man R (2d) 186;
R v Feil, 2012 BCCA 110 at para 63, 282 CCC (3d) 289.

[71] However, the tral judge failed to inform this jury that they could use Barton’s after the fact
conduct, including admitted lies, in assessing his credibility. This fatal flaw cuts right to the heart
of this case. Barton’s credibility was very much at issue since he was the only person in a position
to describe not only what he claimed happened the night Gladue died but also what he claimed
happened the night before. The Crown’s major premise was that Barton lied about what he did
with — and to — Gladue. The Crown’s closing argument emphasized how often Barton made false
statements and the frequency and ease with which he admitted fabricating untruths. The Crown
claimed Barton’s evidence was not credible or reliable, based in part on what it asserted was other
more reliable evidence, including the forensic and blood evidence.

[72] Had the jury been properly instructed, many of Barton’s after the fact actions and
statements might have impacted the jury’s assessment of his honesty, trustworthiness and
believability. That included lies to Sullivan; the hotel clerk; the 911 operator; the initial
investigating officer; Constable Jones, Atkins; and an undercover officer. It also included actions
such as Barton’s recorded 911 call in which he described both his mental and physical state, telling
the operator he was “scared shitless” and “shaking like crazy”. It was open to the jury to compare
this description to the contradictory testimony of other independent witnesses who saw Barton on
the phone to the 911 operator or shortly thereafter. As the ultimate finders of fact, the jurors were
entitled to decide whether Barton’s after the fact conduet had implications for his overall
credibility. But they did not know that. Indeed, they were effectively told the exact opposite.

[73] The trial judge properly instructed the jurors that they may believe all, none or part of
Barton’s evidence. The trial judge also provided the jury with Barton’s justifications for acting and
speaking as he did. However, the jurors were never instructed — as they should have been — that
Barton’s after the fact conduct could bear on his credibility, whether or not they also found it
showed a consciousness of guilt. The jurors were also not instructed — as they should have been —
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that they could take Barton’s admitted lies into account when determining whether they believed
any part of Barton’s testimony. Further, the jury instructions never mentioned — as they should
have done — that Barton admitted to making various statements, then admitted they were false and
that he had lied in them. These key omissions were not remedied in any other part of the charge.
Indeed, the jury instructions referred repeatedly — and wrongly — to Barton’s testimony as given,
implying that the jury should evaluate critical legal issues based solely on what Barton testified
happened. This too was an error of law.* The jurors should have been instructed that they were
entitled to decide what inferences were likely based on evidence they found as fact.

D. Conclusion

[74] In the result, the jury charge on after the fact conduct was inaccurate, incomplete,
inconsistent and, in the end, incomprehensible.

[75] For the reasons noted, the Crown has satisfied its burden to demonstrate that the failure to
properly instruct the jury on the use of after the fact conduct might reasonably have had a material
bearing on the acquittals: Graveline; Vézeau v The Queen, [1977] 2 SCR 277. We are of the view .
that a new trial on first degree murder is justified on this ground alone.

VL. Instructions on Motive

[76] Motive concerns the ulterior motivation of a person in committing an offence.” That can
include not only an objective the perpetrator seeks to achieve but also animus towards a person or
category of persons. Whether to refer to motive in the jury charge falls within the general
discretion of the trial judge: Lewis v The Queen, [1979] 2 SCR 821 at 833-837.

[77] While evidence of a motive is usually admissible, the Crown is not required to prove the
existence of a motive as a matter of law. There are two principal reasons for this. First, many who
perpetrate criminal acts do not have a specific motive for doing so. As stated in R v O’Grady, 1999
BCCA 189 at para 17, 120 BCAC 129: “[t]o deny motive in an apparently motiveless crime simply
does not lead anywhere”. Second, Parliament defines crimes on the basis of the relevant actus reus
and mens rea, and rarely makes motive an essential ingredient to an offence. Motive is not a
statutory element of the crimes alleged in this case, being murder or unlawful act manslaughter, or

3 We address this issue in more detail later in these Reasons.

2 As circumstantial evidence, motive evidence generally involves a reasoning bridge of propensity. Like other
evidence, it is subject to the weighing of probative force versus prejudicial effect. The nature of the evidence said to
show motive may well be prejudicial: see R v Handy, 2002 SCC 56, [2002] 2 SCR 90%8; R v Hart 2014 SCC 52 at
paras 73-74, [2014] 2 SCR 544.



Page: 18

the alleged underlying offence, sexual assault: R v Lutoslawski, 2010 ONCA. 207 at para 36, 258
CCC(3d)1.»

[78] The Crown led no evidence of Barton’s motive in doing what he did and the trial judge
rejected defence counsel’s argument that there was a proved absence of motive. Nevertheless, the
judge instructed the jury on motive. The Crown contends the trial judge should not have done so.

[79] Reading the charge as a whole, we have concluded that the overall effect of the trial judge’s
charging the jury on motive left this jury with the erroneous impression that the Crown’s case was
deficient because the Crown had failed to prove a motive. The jury would likely have placed undue
emphasis on the need for the Crown to prove motive. While they were told, in one sentence, that
the Crown did not carry that burden, they were also told that the Crown had introduced no
evidence of motive. More significant, the fact of charging on motive signalled to the jury that it
was relevant to their deliberations; otherwise, why charge on this issue at all.* In particular, the
trial judge instructed the jury:

If you conclude that Bradley Barton had no motive to commit a
particular offence, it would be an important fact for you to consider.
It is a factor that might support Mr, Barton’s denial of guilt and raise
a reasonable doubt that the Crown has proven its case.”

[80] This jury did not need assistance on motive, either in this form or at all, to arrive at a just
conclusion. In addition, the trial judge focussed the jury on “motive to commit a particular
offence” and spoke of the defence submission that Barton had no “motive to kill Cindy Gladue”.*
With this narrow focus, the jury would likely have concluded that proving that Barton had an
advance motive to kill Gladue was a necessary part of the Crown’s making its case, when it was
not. Further, the jury was never told how lack of motive could raise a reasonable doubt that the
Crown had proven its case — and for what part of which offence.

[81] In addition, the jury was not told how a more generalized purpose or attitude could qualify
as motive. This could include an animus against a person or persons and could capture the desire to
use a sex trade worker in an objectifying or dehumanizing manner for personal gratification.
Directions on that form of animus might have been relevant to what inferences a jury could

33 “Sexual assault does not require proof of an improper or ulterior purpose.” The Supreme Court upheld this decision
in brief reasons: 2010 SCC 49, [2010] 3 SCR 60. See also R v B, 2009 BCCA 88, 244 CCC (3d) 185.

3 AR 1740/33-34.
% AR 1741/2-5.

3% AR 1741/2; 1741112.






